Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jchemneu

Midcingulate cortex: Structure, connections, homologies, functions and diseases



Journal of CHEMICAL NEUROANATOMY

Brent A. Vogt^{a,b,*}

^a Cingulum NeuroSciences Institute, 4435 Stephanie Drive, Manlius, NY 13104, USA
^b Department of Anatomy and Neurobiology, Boston University School of Medicine, 72 East Concord Street, Boston, MA 02118, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 13 October 2015 Received in revised form 28 January 2016 Accepted 28 January 2016 Available online 15 March 2016

Keywords: Neurocytology Cognition Pain Neurofilament proteins Comparative neuroanatomy Insula Parietal Primate Obsessive-compulsive disorder

ABSTRACT

Midcingulate cortex (MCC) has risen in prominence as human imaging identifies unique structural and functional activity therein and this is the first review of its structure, connections, functions and disease vulnerabilities. The MCC has two divisions (anterior, aMCC and posterior, pMCC) that represent functional units and the cytoarchitecture, connections and neurocytology of each is shown with immunohistochemistry and receptor binding. The MCC is not a division of anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the "dorsal ACC" designation is a misnomer as it incorrectly implies that MCC is a division of ACC. Interpretation of findings among species and developing models of human diseases requires detailed comparative studies which is shown here for five species with flat maps and immunohistochemistry (human, monkey, rabbit, rat, mouse). The largest neurons in human cingulate cortex are in layer Vb of area 24 d in pMCC which project to the spinal cord. This area is part of the caudal cingulate premotor area which is involved in multisensory orientation of the head and body in space and neuron responses are tuned for the force and direction of movement. In contrast, the rostral cingulate premotor area in aMCC is involved in action-reinforcement associations and selection based on the amount of reward or aversive properties of a potential movement. The aMCC is activated by nociceptive information from the midline, mediodorsal and intralaminar thalamic nuclei which evoke fear and mediates nocifensive behaviors. This subregion also has high dopaminergic afferents and high dopamine-1 receptor binding and is engaged in reward processes. Opposing pain/avoidance and reward/approach functions are selected by assessment of potential outcomes and error detection according to feedback-mediated, decision making. Parietal afferents differentially terminate in MCC and provide for multisensory control in an eye- and headcentric manner. Finally, MCC vulnerability in human disease confirms the unique organization of MCC and supports the predictive validity of the MCC dichotomy. Vulnerability of aMCC is shown in chronic pain, obsessive-compulsive disorder with checking symptoms and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and methylphenidate and pain medications selectively impact aMCC. In contrast, pMCC vulnerabilities are for progressive supranuclear palsy, unipolar depression and posttraumatic stress disorder. Thus, there is an emerging picture of the organization, functions and diseases of MCC. Future work will take this type of modular analysis to individual areas of which there are at least 10 in MCC. © 2016 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Corresponding author at: Cingulum NeuroSciences Institute, 4435 Stephanie Drive, Manlius, NY 13104, USA.

E-mail address: bvogt@twcny.rr.com (Brent A. Vogt).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2016.01.010 0891-0618/© 2016 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; aCG, apex of the cingulate gyrus; ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; aMCC, anterior MCC; bcgs, branch of the cingulate sulcus; CC, corpus callosum; cCMA, caudal cingulate premotor area; dACC, dorsal anterior cingulate cortex; daMCC, dorsal anterior MCC; fcgs, fundus of the cingulate sulcus; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; FTD, frontotemporal dementia with tau pathology; IPS, intraparietal sulcus; MCC, midcingulate cortex; MITN, midline; OCD, obsessive-compulsive disorder; pACC, perigenual ACC; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; pMCC, posterior MCC; PSP, progressive supranuclear palsy; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder; rCPMA, rostral cingulate premotor area; RSC, retrosplenial cortex; sACC, subgenual ACC; SMI32, antibody to nonphosphorylated intermediate neurofilament proteins; vaMCC, ventral anterior MCC.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 29 |
|-----|--|----|
| 2. | MCC≠ACC & dACC≠ACC | 29 |
| 3. | Regions/subregions are models of cortical function; not labels | 30 |
| 4. | The midcingulate dichotomy | 31 |
| 5. | Comparative organization of MCC | 32 |
| 6. | Cingulate premotor area architecture, circuitry and imaging | 33 |
| 7. | aMCC & vaMCC: nociception, itch, fear, pain catastrophizing | 35 |
| 8. | daMCC: components of the feedback-mediated decision making model | 36 |
| | 8.1. Cognitive functions of monkey area a24c' | 37 |
| | 8.2. Human cognitive studies of daMCC | 37 |
| | 8.3. Feedback-mediated decision making | 38 |
| 9. | pMCC: parietal input, rapid motor responses, body orientation, nociception | 39 |
| | 9.1. Parietal afferents & functions | 39 |
| | 9.2. Pain processing | 40 |
| 10. | Diseases of midcingulate cortex and drug responses | 40 |
| | 10.1. The problem of Tourette syndrome | 43 |
| | 10.2. Drug activity in aMCC | 43 |
| 11. | Perspectives on midcingulate cortex and future challenges | 43 |
| | References | 44 |
| | | |

1. Introduction

The history of the human midcingulate cortex (MCC) extends back to the beginning of the 20th century but went unnoticed because Brodmann (1909) failed to recognize its presence. Smith (1907) first showed MCC and demonstrated its anterior and posterior divisions (aMCC, pMCC; see Vogt et al., 2003, for his figure). While the Vogts (1919) provided a map of cingulate cortex based on myeloarchitecture that was somewhat complex, it also showed subregions that could be related to aMCC and pMCC (Fig. 1A). While we identified caudal components of area 24 referred to as area 24' and recognized then current imaging studies that differentiated these areas (Vogt et al., 1995), we continued for a few years to treat area 24' as part of anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; Devinsky et al., 1995; Vogt et al., 2003). However, the evidence that area 24' is fundamentally different from area 24 became so great that the MCC was introduced as a unique cingulate region in its own right to explain key cytoarchitectural differences with ACC and posterior cingulate cortex (PCC; Vogt, 2005) and their extensive functional differences (Vogt, 2009b; Fig. 1B).

The growing interest in MCC as a separate functional unit suggests a realization that MCC has unique contributions to brain function and is not a division of ACC. Indeed, the number of citations in Science Citation Index for "midcingulate" and "midcingulate" has been growing significantly over the past 20 years as shown in Fig. 2. The spike in citations starting in 2010 immediately followed publication of Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease in 2009 (Oxford University Press) which focuses primarily on primate cingulate organization, functions and diseases including those of MCC. The past five years has generated a diverse and thought provoking body of literature that leads to new insights into the functions and diseases of MCC. This is the first review of MCC and considers its key anatomical, connectional, and functional characteristics. Developing experimental animal models of human diseases requires a clear understanding of the comparative organization of MCC and it is now possible to link the distribution and characteristics of MCC in five species including humans. Finally, a critical part of validating MCC as a unique entity is demonstrating that human diseases have a differential impact on its structure and function as shown in the last section.

2. MCC \neq ACC & dACC \neq ACC

In spite of the past 20 years of detailed cytoarchitectural and immunohistochemical studies, many functional imaging studies report involvement of Brodmann areas for which there is no MCC equivalent. The use of Brodmann area 24 is inaccurate when activity is located only in MCC as his area 24 extends substantially more rostral and ventral to include subgenual ACC (sACC). Indeed, no functional imaging study has ever activated his entire ACC, thus demonstrating that it is not a single entity. The goal of analyzing cingulate cortex by subregion is to identify unique structure/function entities; not to verify Brodmann's first view of cingulate cortex for which no neurobiology had yet evolved. The consequence of using the Brodmann map has been to engage other terminologies such as the dorsal ACC (dACC). Since dACC is not based on any structural substrate other than being above the corpus callosum and having a vague relationship to the Brodmann map, its application is variable and uncertain. A search of Science Citation Index with dACC in the title was made and randomly selected medial surface renderings were chosen from 8 studies. In some instances, dACC lined the cingulate or paracingulate sulci (Woodcock et al., 2015; Marsh et al., 2007; Whitman et al., 2013; Yücel et al., 2007). In one instance it reflected mainly the cingulate gyrus but also part of the cingulate sulcus that was either in pMCC (Hochman et al., 2014) or aMCC (Blair et al., 2006). Finally, some cases were located almost entirely on the cingulate gyrus in aMCC (McRae et al., 2008; Benedict et al., 2002). These studies describe activity or regions of interest in MCC and there are four patterns in these 8 studies alone and different areas in MCC were activated. Thus, these investigators are not discussing the same subregions and dACC is not ACC but rather MCC. A coherent subregion and area localization strategy based on stable anatomical characteristics, rather than location above the corpus callosum, serves more effective communication and determination of how subregion models function.

It is impossible to overlook the fact that ACC and MCC are unique regions even when MCC in not part of the analysis. Fig. 1D. demonstrates the default-mode network that does not involve MCC to any meaningful extent but is flanked on both sides by ACC and PCC activity (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). The ACC has a well established role in emotion and autonomic regulation, while MCC has a prominent role in decision making and skeletomotor control (Bush et al., 2000; Vogt, 2009a). These and many other observations discussed below lead to the conclusion that ACC \neq MCC and dACC \neq ACC.



Fig. 1. Perspectives on MCC. (A) Vogts' map (1919) with aMCC and pMCC marked with arrows; (B) cingulate flat map (Vogt, 2009b); (C) FreeSurfer surface-based map (Destrieux et al., 2010); (D) default-mode network (Vaishnavi et al., 2010); (E) insula connectivity, E.1, ROIs, E.2 & 3 MCC correlations with anterior insula (2, right hemisphere) & midinsula (3, left hemisphere; Taylor et al., 2009); (F) *In vivo* myelin map (Glasser and Van Essen, 2011).

3. Regions/subregions are models of cortical function; not labels

The extent to which the four-region model of cingulate cortex including ACC, MCC, PCC, and retrosplenial cortex (RSC) has value is determined by its ability to predict relationships that are not



Fig. 2. Number of citations to "midcingulate" and "mid-cingulate over the past 20 years.

apparent with other models. Defining cingulate regions and subregions is not simply a matter of taxonomy or even cytoarchitecture. Such designations are not just labels for descriptive structural and functional studies. Their use here represents cortical models that have predictive value; an example of which is interpreting MCC subregion findings in Tourette syndrome in the last section. To define a cytoarchitectural border is to declare that two parts of cingulate cortex constitute unique structure/function entities. For example, Bush et al. (2000) first demonstrated the functional border between ACC and MCC with the former activated during emotion-generating tasks and the latter during cognitive information processing tasks. This border has been repeatedly documented with differences in glucose metabolism, variations in the termination of amygdala and parietal afferents, electrical stimulation responses and cingulospinal projections (Vogt, 2009a).

As important as confirmation of the subregion models are, nonconfirmation raises new perspectives and this can be important to defining a model's unique properties. There are two examples of such divergences and the resulting reinterpretation of cingulate functions that emerge. First, the MCC was identified because of, among other reasons, its spinal skeletomotor projections (Vogt, 2009a); however, the dorsal perigenual ACC (pACC) has projections to the motor nucleus of the 7th nerve (Morecraft et al., 1996). Indeed, it has been known for a long time that affectively modulated vocalizations are regulated by the cingulate vocalization area (Vogt and Barbas, 1988). Also, Moayedi et al. (2012) assessed patients with temporomandibular disorder compared to controls and reported accelerated, age-related cortical thinning in aMCC/pACC. Should dorsal pACC be incorporated into MCC? Not necessarily. These views are compatible with the role of ACC in emotion and this motor system regulating facial expression and vocalization. Thus, the face area of the rostral cingulate premotor area being in ACC is compatible with its role in emotional internal states. It should be noted, however, that there are not simple relationships between facial pain expression and cingulate activations. Kunz et al. (2011) showed that pACC activity was negatively correlated with facial expression in response to noxious heat, while painful events associated with facial expression of pain activate pMCC. While reflexive activation of pMCC during pain is expected (below), the negative correlation of pACC is not predicted. This view may also conflict with findings of Procyk et al. (2016) who showed that tongue movement and juice reward feedback are associated with activity in dorsal aMCC. Thus, the differential functions of pACC and daMCC remain unresolved, although reward coding of daMCC is consistent with other functional cognitive studies reviewed below. Second, while pMCC appears to be relatively uninvolved when generating emotion with faces, scripts or other stimuli (Vogt, 2005), aMCC is frequently activated during fear and not during non-emotional conditions. Does this mean that aMCC is part of ACC? While a wide range of emotion generating tasks activate ACC, not just fear, and ACC is involved in emotional awareness (Lane et al., 1997), aMCC employs evoked fear as a substrate for generating avoidance responses; i.e., this activity is coupled to the unique role of aMCC in motor control. It is postulated below that the fear response in aMCC is not a conscious emotional response but rather an implicit premotor signal. As such we have learned subtle distinctions about both fear and premotor aMCC functions.

4. The midcingulate dichotomy

The MCC is not uniform as it has aMCC and pMCC (Smith, 1907; Vogt and Vogt, 1919; Vogt, 2009b). It is to be expected that these divisions have differential connections and they have been identified in monkey and human. Indeed, amygdala and parietal afferents in the monkey differentiate them and this was one of the criteria for their dissociation (Vogt, 2009a). Before proceeding further, the terminology for various parts of MCC in primates is provided in Fig. 3 for reference throughout this review. The figure caption provides the definition of each part therein including the daMCC in the human with areas 32' and a24c' as well as the rCMA/ rCPMA in the cingulate sulcus of daMCC and cCMA/CPMA in pMCC. The key difference with the monkey is a lack of an area 32' in daMCC.

Beyond amygdala and parietal afferents, it is known that the monkey MCC and anterior insula are interconnected. An important study by Taylor et al. (2009) used resting state connectivity to analyze this interaction in human as shown in Fig. 1E. Fig. 1E1 shows their insular regions of interest, while E.2 shows interactions between the anterior insula and aMCC and E.3 those between the midinsula and pMCC. The conjunction of these findings with monkey monosynaptic connections is striking in that they are both located mainly in the cingulate sulcus where the cingulate premotor areas are located (Mesulam and Mufson, 1982; Mufson and Mesulam, 1982; Vogt and Pandya, 1987). Taylor et al. (2009) suggest that an emotional/salience monitoring system links the anterior insula with the pACC/aMCC and is responsible for integrating interoceptive information with emotional salience



Fig. 3. Two images were extracted from Fig. 6 and the gross anatomical features of MCC identified including the cingulate gyrus (CG) and external cingulate gyrus (EG). (A) The two human MCC divisions are aMCC (dark grey) and pMCC (light grey). The dorsal aMCC (daMCC) is bounded by the paracingulate sulcus (pcgs) and includes areas 32' and a24c' with their ventral border at the apex of the CG (parenthesis). The ventral aMCC (vaMCC) is comprised of CG areas a24a' and a24b' and callosal sulcal area a33' (fcas, fundus of the callosal sulcus). The pMCC includes cingulate sulcal areas p24c' and 24d, and dorsal and ventral parts of pMCC are not employed. Within each part of MCC are outlined the rostral cingulate motor area (rCMA; also rostral cingulate premotor area; rCPMA) and the caudal cingulate motor area (rCMA; also caudal cingulate premotor area; cCPMA). (B) Monkey MCC differs from the human as it does not appear to have an area 32' and daMCC is comprised of only area a24c'. The rCMA/rCPMA and cCMA/cCPMA maintain a similar relative position in the cingulate sulcus.

forming a subjective image of our bodily state. They also concluded that a general salience and action system links the entire insula and MCC for environmental (sensory context) monitoring, behavioral response selection via skeletomotor control and body orientation.

Here we reconsider the dichotomy issue with immunohistochemical preparations of human MCC for neuron-specific nuclear binding protein (NeuN) and non-phosphorylated, intermediate neurofilament proteins (SMI32 antibody) in Fig. 4. The NeuN antibody reacts with neuronal nuclei only (i.e., glial cells are not reactive) and the neuropil staining is low compared to Nissl stains such as thionin. The SMI32 antibody, in contrast, reacts mainly with large, pyramidal neurons with extrinsic projections and these two antibodies provide a good overview of key features of cortical architecture. The macrophotographs of human MCC in A. show that layers II and VI in area a24b' are thicker than in area p24b' and layer III is poorly differentiated and thinner. The relatively poor differentiation of area 24b in pACC is shown for comparison and emphasizes the ACC/MCC distinction. While layer Va is of a similar thickness in both parts of MCC, neuron density is significantly higher in area p24b'. Fig. 4B shows these features in both parts of MCC with comparisons to SMI32 which has significantly greater expression in pMCC. Layer III in area p24' is very high in layers III and Va compared to a24' and area p24a' has an additional peak in expression in the top of layer VI (layer VIa). Verification of neuron densities and SMI reactivity are shown at higher magnification in Fig. 4C. Finally, unique patterns of MCC myelination shown by Glasser and Van Essen (2011) on the medial surface for the Conte-69 average data are presented in Fig. 1F. While the myelin pattern is generally graded throughout the anterior-to-posterior extent of cingulate cortex, there are differences between aMCC and pMCC with the latter having higher myelin content than aMCC.

Another perspective of the MCC subregions is shown in Fig. 5 in horizontal, silver-stained sections kindly provided by Drs. Karl Zilles and Nicola Palomero-Gallagher (Jülich, Germany). The area differences can be more easily compared in horizontal sections, than in multiple coronal sections as in Fig. 4. The borders between pMCC (areas p24b'/p24a') and aMCC (areas a24b' and a24a') shown



Fig. 4. The human midcingulate dichotomy. (A) Macrophotographs of 3 NeuN sections (levels shown on the medial surface with asterisks) to demonstrate the progressive laminar differentiation from pACC to pMCC; note layers II, III and V (arrows). (B) Area 24b' differences compared to area 24b include a broad layer III with high densities of SMI32+ neurons and dendrites and substantially more SMI32 reactivity in layer Va. (C) Magnification of layer V shows greater overall density of neurons in layer Vb of area a24b' (NeuN), while layer Va SMI32+ neurons are more dense in layer Vb of area p24b'. Figure compiled from Vogt et al. (2003).

at the asterisks (B. and C.) are relatively sharp as seen by cortical thickness where aMCC is thinner than pMCC and overall density of neurons in layers V–VI of the former is higher. Magnification of these areas (D and E) shows that layer II is more dense in area a24b', layer III is not differentiated and the higher density of neurons in layers V–VI of a24b' is more apparent as also seen above with NeuN. Finally, the different densities of large neurons in layer Va are apparent in F. and G. Thus, differentiation of pMCC and aMCC is demonstrated in horizontal sections and the MCC dichotomy is confirmed.

5. Comparative organization of MCC

The use of experimental animals to evaluate cingulate functions and devise animal models of human diseases requires comparative analyses of the content of cingulate cortex in each species in relation to the human. The very substantial differences in daMCC between monkey and human species are of particular importance to cognitive research and area 32' functions cannot be studied in monkeys where it likely does not exist. Further, the pain literature often reports that medial prefrontal cortex is active when in fact they are reporting findings in ACC or MCC. Since the human medial prefrontal cortex comprises many more areas than those of cingulate cortex including areas 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, while rodents only have ACC and MCC, the conclusions often do not converge. Here we emphasize the comparative organization of MCC and note at the outset that the MCC in rodents is poorly differentiated in comparison to that in primates. This has particular relevance to pain research as it is the aMCC that is most frequently activated in human acute pain studies and no such subregion is present in



Fig. 5. The human MCC dichotomy in horizontal section. A. Medial surface with an arrow showing a branch of the cingulate sulcus (bcgs) to orient to the (B) and (C) macrophotographs. Asterisks identify the border between pMCC and aMCC. Arrows from (B) point to the levels where (D) and (E) were photographed for (D) and (E) and the boxes represent sites of further magnification of layer Va in (F) and (G). Scale bars; (B)–(E) 500μ m; (F) and (G) 100μ m.



Fig. 6. Maps of MCC in five species. Three shades of grey refer to aMCC (darkest), pMCC (middle) and rodent MCC (lowest). The apex of the cingulate gyrus (aCG) and fundus of the cingulate sulcus (fcgs) are emphasized with thick lines. CC, corpus callosum. Scale bars for primates, 1 cm; for rabbit and rodents, 2 mm.

rodents (Vogt and Paxinos, 2014) but is in rabbits (Vogt, 2015). Finally, Brodmann (1909) was conflicted over the nature and terminology for cortex between anterior and retrosplenial cortices in the rabbit. While he localized "area 23" at this point, he said that it does not have a granular layer IV like area 23 in primates. Based on his localization of "area 23" in rabbit and the following observations, it appears he was analyzing pMCC.

The midcingulate maps in Fig. 6 were derived in larger studies of each species that should be consulted for the details of area borders and cytoarchitecture. These studies were for the human (Vogt et al., 1995; Vogt, 2009b), monkey (Vogt, 2005), rabbit (Vogt, 2015), and rat and mouse (Vogt and Paxinos, 2014). While the monkey looks like a smaller version of the human, it is not(1) it has a fundal division of each area on the ventral bank of the cingulate gyrus and the dorsal bank of the cingulate sulcus does not appear to have the anatomical characteristics of cingulate cortex (below). In contrast, the human has dorsal bank areas that equate to those on the ventral bank with differences in neuron packing in layers III and V. (2) The monkey does not appear to have an area 32' and this is the reason for the greater expansion of aMCC in humans. (3) The monkey also does not have an area 33 that extends along the corpus callosum as does the human. Thus, these primates share similarities, but they are not scaled versions of each other.

Homologizing daMCC functions between monkey and human for cognitive research requires a clear understanding of the comparative anatomical features of sulcal architecture in these species. The detailed cytoarchitecture based on NeuN can be found in the articles cited above. Here the SMI32 preparations are used because they are easier to interpret at lower magnifications and most of the key issues in layer V are assessable with them. The human tissue was counter-stained with thionin and the monkey was not thus showing neurons in the superficial layers that are not stained in monkey. Three levels of sulcal MCC are shown in Fig. 7 for both species. Each of the monkey areas a24', p24c' and 24d begin just medial to the apex of the cingulate gyrus and have a fundal extension that terminates on the dorsal bank of the cingulate sulcus (fa24c', fp24c', f24d). The fundal divisions are not simply distortions around the sulcus but each layer has somewhat different architecture (Vogt, 2005). The boxes in Fig. 7 select strips of dorsal and ventral bank cortex for comparison. The dorsal bank cortex is substantially different from areas on the ventral bank as layers of the former cortex are much thicker and all are heavily SMI-immunoreactive. The human MCC is quite different in that its fundal cortex appears to be simply a distortion around the sulcal depths without essential laminar differences in neuron structure. Moreover, cortex on the dorsal bank appears similar to that on the ventral bank with variations noted with double arrows and associated boxes. This leads to a key comparative conclusion that the dorsal bank of the monkey cingulate sulcus is not comprised of cingulate cortex as also shown previously with receptor binding (Vogt and Palomero-Gallagher, 2012). This conclusion is critical for single unit neurophysiological studies of cognitive functions purported to be mediated by area a24c' and cortex at more caudal levels of the sulcus.

Higher magnification of each ventral bank sulcal area (Fig. 7C1– C3 and D1–D3) shows that layers Va and Vb in monkey have an increasing intensity of staining and number of SMI+ neurons in the rostral-to-caudal plane. Also, layer IIIc has fewest such neurons in area a24c and most in area 24d. Finally, the gigantopyramidal field of Braak (1976) in human (area 24d) contains gigantopyramids noted with arrows in Fig. 7D3 and these neurons are not present in monkey. A thorough analysis of monkey and human comparative architecture in NeuN and SMI32 preparations is available elsewhere (Vogt, 2009b).

The rabbit does not have a cingulate sulcus or area 24c' variants present in primates. It does, however, have a two part MCC and this is in substantial contrast to rodent brains that have but one division. Fig. 8 shows differences between the rabbit area a24a' (aMCC) with the SMI32 antibody in comparison to that in the rostral and caudal parts of MCC in the rat. The robust area a24a' SMI32 reaction is apparent in rabbit, while the rat has very little such reactivity and few differences between the rostral and caudal parts of MCC. Sections reacted for NeuN are shown for matched sections in rostral and caudal parts of MCC in rat. While there are a few minor differences between the sections, they do not rise to the level of declaring a dichotomous MCC. This is not to say that the rodents do not share features of MCC with the rabbit. Indeed, Nissl staining alone shows that large neurons in layer Va distinguish this region from ACC and RSC and this is a feature of both parts of the rabbit MCC.

6. Cingulate premotor area architecture, circuitry and imaging

One of the key features of MCC is its role in skeletomotor functions in contrast to ACC where emotion and autonomic regulation are predominant. In 1973, Talairach et al. (1973) reported that electrical stimulation of MCC evoked movements such as lip puckering, finger kneading, and bilateral limb movements; not movement in single muscle groups. These coordinated movements reflect behaviors that are valenced and context dependent. For example, lip puckering is not a routine movement but rather associated with kissing and this is not applied indiscriminately but rather to specific individuals in particular contexts. When such activities are indiscriminately applied, it suggests impairment in MCC function. In Tourette syndrome, for example, activity before tic onset is located mainly in the caudal CMA of pMCC (Bohlhalter et al., 2006).

Braak (1976) was the first to recognize a cingulate motor area with pigment/lipofuscin preparations (his gigantopyramidal field) which we now refer to as area 24d in the cingulate sulcus of the caudal part of pMCC (Matelli et al., 1991). This region was soon demonstrated to have spinal projections (Biber et al., 1978) and Dum and Strick (1991) showed a wide range of cingulospinal projections emitted from cortex in most of the cingulate sulcus including areas a24c', p24c', 24d and 23c and projections of area 24c to the motor nucleus of the 7th nerve (Morecraft et al., 1996). This wider view of cingulate motor projections leads to the conclusion that there is no single cytoarchitecture associated with premotor projection cortex. Additionally, since the rCMA has high dopamine system architecture (below) and reward and cognitive functions not necessarily directly involved in skeletomotor control, we refer to these as premotor areas (i.e., rCPMA).



Fig. 7. Three levels of cingulate sulcal architecture in monkey (A, C) and human (B, D) shown with SMI32. Double arrows and boxes emphasize differences between dorsal and ventral banks in the monkey with its non-cingulate dorsal bank cortex versus the human in which the dorsal and ventral bank cortices are similar. C1-3 show monkey areas a24c', p24c' and 24d magnified further, while D1-3 are the same areas at the same magnification for the human. Comparison of C1 and C3 shows substantial differences in layer IIIc and Va SMI32+ neurons and dendritic processes which are much greater in C3 than C1. While a similar packing density occurs in human layer IIIc, layer V has a number of differences not apparent in the monkey. Area ventral p24c' (vp24c'; D2) has the greatest number of labeled neurons in layer Va (vs D1 and D3) and layer Vb has relatively fewer neurons in D3 than D1. Layer Vb neurons in area 24d (D3) has the largest neurons in cingulate cortex that are the gigantopyramids of Braak (arrows). Scale bars, 1 mm and 0.5 mm.



Fig. 8. Comparisons of MCC for rabbit (A. SMI32; a24a') and rat (B. 24a' pairs of SMI32 and NeuN sections). The cortex is aligned at the layer Va/Vb border as shown with black lines. Additional lines in rat reference the top of layer Va, while the arrows for rabbit refer to the top of layer Va and bottom of layer Vb, respectively. Rabbit area a24a' has a substantially greater number of SMI32-immunoreactive neurons than either the rostral or caudal parts of rat area 24a'. This argues against a dichotomous MCC in rat, although there are a few minor differences in NeuN staining. Scale bar, 200 µm.

The structure of each cingulate premotor area is unique both among them in the cingulate sulcus and in relationship to adjacent cingulate gyral areas. The cytoarchitecture of area a24c' in the rCPMA and area 24d in the cCPMA is shown in Fig. 9 with NeuN preparations at low magnification and layers Va and Vb at higher magnification; area 24c in pACC is shown for comparison. Since the largest cingulate neurons are in layer Vb of area 24d (arrow; gigantopyramidal neurons of Braak), we consider this area in comparison to the other two. Layer II is quite broad and layer III is more neuron dense with slightly larger neurons. Layer VI is broad and neuron dense, whereas that in area a24c' is quite thin and not nearly as neuron dense. Layer Va is more dense and contains larger neurons than in area a24c', while that in area 24c is densely packed and neurons are substantially smaller. As noted, the arrow points to a column of very large pyramids that characterize area 24d. While the neuron sizes in layer Vb of area 24c is relatively homogeneous, the large neurons in the other two areas are embedded in a matrix of smaller pyramids.

The receptor binding properties of areas a24c' and 24d are also shown in Fig. 9 and demonstrate a number of critical features that modulate their functions. Area 24d has the lowest kainite binding in deep layers and lowest AMPA, NMDA and GABA_A binding in superficial layers. Of particular note in terms of reward coding is the fact that area a24c' has substantially higher dopamine-1 binding in the superficial layers, whereas area 24d has virtually none in superficial and none in deep layers. Also of note is the very weak GABA_A regulation of area 24d in comparison to the other areas. This suggests that, although excitatory input may be relatively low in area 24d, kainite and AMPA activation goes relatively un-inhibited and may account for short-latency premovement activity in this area.

The functional properties of the rCPMA in areas 24c and a24c' and cCPMA in areas p24c', 24d and 23c are distinct (Morecraft and Tanji, 2009). The onset latency to evoked movements is long and variable in rCPMA, while the latency to onset in the cCPMA is short. Optimal activation of neurons in the rCPMA occurs during self-initiated and non-routine movements and is involved in temporal monitoring, while cCPMA responses occur to passive (signal-triggered) movements and code for direction, target acquisition and orienting movements in space (Akkal et al., 2002; Isomura et al., 2003).

The rCPMA plays a unique role in behavioral control (Shima et al., 1991; Shima and Tanji, 1998) as it is involved in actionreinforcement associations with only a modest selectivity tuning, while the cCPMA is engaged in visual and spatial location and neuron responses are tuned for the force and direction of movements. The rCPMA neurons engage during response selection in humans based on the amount of reward and in determining action-reward associations (Hadland et al., 2003; Procyk et al., 2016) and Shidara and Richmond (2002) showed in monkey that proximity to the reward enhanced neuron firing suggesting a role in reward expectancy. Thus, it is not surprising that dopaminergic afferents arise from the ventral tegmental area (Williams and Goldman-Rakic, 1998) and subserve key functional differences between the cingulate premotor areas. The rCPMA has a high content of dopamine (Miller et al., 2009) and dopamine-1 receptors (Fig. 9, area a24c') and is involved in reward monitoring and reinforcing reward associations. In contrast, the cCPMA has low-moderate levels of dopamine and dopamine-1 receptors and is involved in orienting movements in sensory spaces with shortduration and reflexive activity without reward and reinforcement properties. Such functional and neurochemical differences substantiate the MCC dichotomy.

Beyond cingulospinal projections of the CPMAs and their dopaminergic afferents, there are other connections that are critical to the functions and dichotomy of MCC including afferents from the midline, mediodorsal and intralaminar thalamic nuclei (MITN) and parietal cortex (below). The MITN contain nociceptive neurons and they serve as the basis for the initial nociceptive trigger for pain processing in cingulate cortex (Vogt, 2005). An elegant study by Hatanaka et al. (2003) used two retrograde tracers in the monkey rCPMA and cCPMA to explore differences in thalamic afferents to both cortices. The percentage of all labeled neurons projecting from the MITN to the rCPMS was 12% from the mediodorsal nucleus, 13% from the centrolateral nucleus and 26% from the parafascicular nucleus. In contrast, these percentages were only a fraction of those projecting to the cCPMA with 7% from the mediodorsal, 2% from the centrolateral, and 12% from the parafascicular nuclei. Thus, the rCPMA area a24c' receives a higher density of nociceptive inputs than do the cCMA areas p24c' and 24d. Finally, Erpelding et al. (2012) showed in human subjects that greater warm detection sensitivity correlates with thinning in aMCC (Fig. 10A.1), while greater heat pain sensitivity correlates with thickening of pMCC in the cingulate sulcus (Fig. 10A.2). While it is unclear how differences in cortical thickness relate to functional output, it is possible that thickening in pMCC is a compensatory mechanism to enhance nociceptive processing.

7. aMCC & vaMCC: nociception, itch, fear, pain catastrophizing

Activity generated by acute nociceptive stimuli recorded with fMRI is located mainly in MCC as shown in Fig. 11A. While not overtly painful, itch evoked with cowhage spicules also activates aMCC (Fig. 10B; red–orange). In contrast, active scratching of such an itch activates pMCC enhancing the view that reflexive motor activity is mediated by this subregion and demonstrating a functional dissociation between aMCC and pMCC. Interestingly, both active and passive scratching of an itch inactivates pACC via a reciprocal inhibitory mechanism. This mechanism was first described during emotion-generating stimuli by Drevets and Raichle (1998) as discussed further below as it is bidirectional between MCC and pACC.



Fig. 9. Structure and receptor binding of cingulate premotor areas with area 24c for comparison. The gigantopyramidal neurons in layer Vb of area 24d are the largest in cingulate cortex (arrow). Large neurons in layer Vb are apparent in area a24c' but less so in area 24c. Of particular note for receptor binding in area 24d is the low AMPA, GABA_A and D₁ binding, and in area a24c' particularly high D₁ binding. Scale bars, 500 µm; Receptor binding density high (red) to low (blue; modified from Palomero-Gallagher and Zilles (2009).

The conjunction between acute nociceptive and itch-evoked activation and fear-evoked activity in aMCC is apparent in Figs. 10B, 11A and B. Voluntary, action-related processing induced by a motor task during painful or non-painful stimulation also drives aMCC (Perini et al., 2013) emphasizing the linkage between pain processing and movement; other areas including the anterior insula do not show this association. Fear in this context refers to a premotor signal and may not be a matter of conscious awareness. since emotion systems form implicit rather than explicit memories (Phelps and LeDoux, 2005). Further, not all activations in acute pain studies are associated with affect as demonstrated by sensorimotor activations in the lateral pain system (Becerra et al., 1999; Frot et al., 2008); i.e., even cingulate pain activity may not be associated with affect per se and it is likely that aMCC fear activity is not explicit. Moreover, aMCC nociception is positively correlated with the expectation of pain relief (Petrovic et al., 2005) as is the case for itch relief (Papoiu et al., 2013). Finally, Singer et al. (2004; Fig. 10E, red) reported aMCC activation when subjects observed nociceptive stimulation of a loved one; pain empathy. Such a response engages an individual to respond, as they would in a similar situation for themselves, to assist another in achieving pain relief.

The loss of pain control evokes anxiety and is associated with suffering. This was shown by sites of atrophy in the vaMCC that are correlated with catastrophizing in patients with migraine headache (Hubbard et al., 2014; Fig. 11C) as discussed further under Diseases of MCC. Thus, the aMCC is in a unique position to cognitively interpret (pain empathy), anticipate and trigger avoidance responses to pending noxious stimulation and the pMCC is engaged in general orienting to sensory stimuli including noxious ones (below). The question arises as to the role of implicit fear in motor control.

Fear activations appear to be pivotal to selection between rewarded and punished responses made in aMCC. Since aMCC has rich dopaminergic innervation, is involved in reward functions and is activated during noxious stimulation, there is an overlap of both pain and reward systems in this subregion. Koyama et al. (2001) studied monkey aMCC and demonstrated that, of neurons activated during a response period, 58% were associated with nociceptive cutaneous electrical stimulation and 42% for obtaining a juice reward. Thus, the overlap of aversive and rewarding functions in aMCC requires a mechanism(s) for distinguishing and predicting pain or reward outcomes to select the appropriate response. One such mechanism is fear evoked by nociceptive afferents from the MITN that provides an implicit premotor signal to enhance nocifensive behaviors.

8. daMCC: components of the feedback-mediated decision making model

The pACC and aMCC are involved in different functions and reciprocal inhibition can enhance the unique functions of each subregion as noted later. Bush et al. (1998) and Whalen et al. (1998) performed two Stroop interference tasks that involved different sources of interference, one cognitive and one affective, in the same subjects during the same scanning session. Stroop testing



Fig. 10. Sensory activity unique to parts of MCC. (A.1) Warm detection sensitivity associated with thinning of aMCC, while (A.2) heat pain sensitivity is associated with thickening of sulcal pMCC (Erpelding et al., 2012). (B) Active scratching of an itch evoked with cowhage spicules is associated with activity in pMCC (yellow), while itch itself activates aMCC (red-orange). In contrast, reciprocal inhibition in pACC (deactivation with active scratching-blue and passive scratching-green) occurred in pACC (Papoiu et al., 2013). (C) Attention to the location of innocuous stimuli activates pMCC (Kulkarni et al., 2005). (D) Pain responses can be modulated by a subject's belief that they can regulate it in contrast to when they cannot (blue; Salomons et al., 2004; green is the overlap between pain controllability and sensory response). (E) Pain empathy. Area in green represents activation for pain versus no pain during the experience of one's own pain and area in red is the site for pain versus no pain when it is observed in another subject (Singer et al., 2004). (A2, B–D) rotated horizontally to match Fig. 1B flat map.



Fig. 11. (A) Cingulate activations during 'pain' (Neurosynth search; 420 fMRI studies as of 12/11/2015; see Yarkoni et al., 2011). (B) Activity evoked during "fear" (Neurosynth search; 132 studies). (C) Migraine patients with negatively correlated grey matter volume in vaMCC (C1) and atrophy correlated with pain catastrophizing (C2; Hubbard et al., 2014).

requires the subject to overcome reflexive responses to execute a button press. In the counting Stroop word stimuli are presented in sets of 1-4 identical words per trial and subjects select one of four buttons relating to the number of words on the screen. This produces a reliable interference effect when presented with number-words that are incongruent with the correct response. For example, a subject presented with the word "four," written two times, requires more time to respond correctly by pushing the second button compared to a similar presentation of a neutral word: i.e., non-number related such as "bird." For the emotional Stroop, emotionally valenced word stimuli are presented with alternating blocks of neutral and negatively valenced words. For example, during the neutral condition, a subject might see the word "cushion" written three times on the screen and would push the third button. During the negative condition, a subject might see the word "murder" written four times on the screen and would push the fourth button. Delays in reaction time in the negative compared to the neutral condition are interpreted as emotional interference.

Using these two tasks, a double-dissociation revealed that the counting Stroop activated daMCC but not pACC, whereas the emotional counting Stroop activated ACC but not MCC. A meta analysis by Bush et al. (2000) substantiated differences between these subregions with cognitive tasks activating the aMCC and emotionally-valenced tasks activate the pACC. Importantly, the converse where cognitive tasks deactivate the pACC and emotionally-valenced tasks deactivate the aMCC was also reported (Drevets and Raichle, 1998; Mayberg et al., 1999; Raichle et al., 1994). The sensorimotor paradigm used by (Papoiu et al., 2013; Fig. 10B) also provides evidence of reciprocal inhibition; active scratching activated pMCC and inactivated pACC. Thus, *reciprocal inhibition* assures that the functions of these subregions are segregated for different aspects of information processing associated with emotion/autonomic and cognitive/skeletomotor control.

8.1. Cognitive functions of monkey area a24c'

The daMCC in monkeys refers to area a24c' on the dorsal bank of the anterior cingulate gyrus and its fundal extension (Fig. 3B), while in human it is comprised of areas a24c' and 32' (Fig. 3A). The dorsal bank of the monkey anterior cingulate gyrus, beyond the fundal extension, is not cingulate cortex based on anatomical criteria (Fig. 7). Also, since monkeys do not appear to have an area 32', human studies are the only means of assessing this area's functions. Monkey neurophysiological studies of area a24c' suggest cognitive functions to be expected for human daMCC.

The reward-based, decision-making properties of neurons in the monkey rCPMA were shown by Shima and Tanji (1998); not only did different populations of neurons respond to target detection, motor responses and constant rewards, but many signaled unexpected, reduced rewards. Indeed, the proportions of each cell type were not equal as more than five times as many cells responded to movement selection based on reduced reward (37%) versus constant reward (7%). Also, muscimol block of a24c' impaired motor selection based on reduced rewards. Neurons in monkey area a24c' integrate information from working memory of task instructions with reward and error information to make decisions for simple and complex motor tasks (Akkal et al., 2002; Isomura et al., 2003; Procyk and Joseph 2001). Niki and Watanabe (1976) identified cells in the fundus of the cingulate sulcus and to a lesser extent its ventral bank that responded to cue location and response direction and whose activity during a delay period predicted whether the monkey would make a correct or incorrect choice. Shidara and Richmond (2002) reported that rCPMA cells responded differently based on reward expectations during a sequential motor task. Thus, area a24c' synthesizes information from multiple sources and indicates that a particular decision has been made.

Neurons in monkey daMCC respond to stimulus anticipation, they are sensitive to targets, motor responses, rewards, and/or errors. Interestingly, error-sensitive cells also respond if the monkey is not rewarded for making the correct response (Niki and Watanabe, 1979). Gemba et al. (1986) reported that error potentials from electrodes covering the entire aMCC followed inappropriate, self-paced (non-rewarded) responses and such potentials did not follow correct (visually-cued and rewarded) responses. Nishijo et al. (1997) also found ACC neurons that were anticipatory, stimulus-related, response-related, and rewardrelated; adding that subsets responded to novel objects, while others could discriminate rewarding, aversive, and neutral objects. Thus, neurons in area a24c' can engage in target detection, motor responses, constant rewards, and unexpected (reduced) rewards. They integrate information from working memory of task instructions with reward and error information to make decisions regarding routine and non-routine motor sequencing. They signal which sequence the monkey was performing and the expectation of reward based on context (anticipation).

8.2. Human cognitive studies of daMCC

As in monkeys, neurons in the human daMCC are intermingled with different response properties and each activation site is viewed from a similar perspective. Here we follow a course from novel stimulation through a series of steps that lead to motor output and feedback based on the detection of errors. These are the components of feedback-mediated decision making that serve as the basis for the model of daMCC function. The following consideration is based in part on the views of Bush (2009) and this excellent chapter should be read for further details of the emergence of cognitive theories of daMCC function and additional citations. Raichle et al. (1994) reported novelty sensitivity in daMCC by showing that subjects performing a verb generation task (i.e., given an object, produce a related verb, such as when given 'hammer', say 'hit') initially had high daMCC blood flow, but with practice on the same list of nouns the blood flow decreased. However, daMCC blood flow again increased when a novel set of nouns was introduced. Similarly, two studies using the counting Stroop task showed significant daMCC activity initially, but it was not significant with successful practice as measured by decreases in reaction times (Bush et al., 1999, 1998).

The cognitive (vs purely motor control) functions of daMCC were first shown by Murtha et al. (1996) who reported that subjects anticipating performing tasks activated daMCC, before overt actions were made. Corbetta et al. (1991) reported daMCC activation during divided attention or shifting between tasks and Periánez et al. (2004) used magnetoencepalography during a Wisconsin card-sorting test to examine set shifting with a high degree of temporal resolution. Preparation for set-shifting, responses to shift, and relative to non-shift cues, occurred first in inferior frontal areas 45 and 47 at 100-300 ms from trial onset and then in the rCPMA of aMCC at 200-300 ms. Finally, Kirsch et al. (2003) used fMRI to show that subjects anticipating reward based on the presentation of a visual conditioned stimulus activated daMCC and that anticipated monetary rewards increased activity compared to positive verbal feedback. Thus, daMCC has a role in anticipation/expectancy and set shifting before a specific movement is chosen.

Hoffstaedter et al. (2013) employed an imaging paradigm in which movement selection was based on free choice, timed choice or no choice. The daMCC was the only region that had increasing activity with more intentional components during movement initiation. Furthermore, critical to movement control is the role of daMCC in error processing. Humans produce a medial-frontal error-related negativity (Coles et al., 1995, 2001; Gehring and Fencsik, 2001; Holroyd et al., 2005). Also, fMRI studies have shown daMCC activation in response to errors (Fiehler et al., 2004; Holroyd et al., 2004; Ullsperger and von Cramon, 2001). A singletrial fMRI study reported that the daMCC was active during both error and correct trials (Carter et al., 1998). Thus, daMCC is pivotal to response initiation in the context of free choice and this function is modulated by error processing signals.

An early cognitive theory of daMCC function was selection-foraction (Allport, 1980, 1987; Posner et al., 1988). It related attention and target identification with response selection by proposing that selective attention to target stimuli was biased by pre-existing conditions that make attention and target selection relevant to response selection. Selection-for-action meant selection, not only for overt responding, but for internal cognitive activity related to decision making, memory or information transformation. Norman and Shallice (1986) referred to this form of attention as "supervisory" and suggested that it was used whenever nonroutine processing was required. The selection-for-action influence was evident during modality specific motor choice (Paus et al., 1993), motor control/monitoring and/or willed action (Badgaiyan, 2000; Liddle et al., 2001), Stroop tasks (Bush et al., 1998; Pardo et al., 1990) and tasks involving the over-riding or inhibition of pre-potent responses such as Go-NoGo tasks (Kawashima et al., 1996). Thus, the selection-for-action view fits with much of the data on daMCC involvement in selective/divided attention and conflict monitoring.

Working memory reflects a sustained neuronal representation of a stimulus or motor choice maintained over a delay period. A review of working memory research (Petit et al., 1998) indicated that daMCC is often activated by working memory tasks representing the neural substrate of being prepared to make a choice rather than motor preparations for executing a response once the choice was made. Schnell et al. (2007) evaluated visuomotor action monitoring and observed that incongruence between the subjects' actions versus their perceptions evoked activity in areas 32' and 8. The monitoring observation, though, does not explain anticipatory activity when daMCC activation is obtained after task instructions are given but before a stimulus is presented (Kirsch et al., 2003; Murtha et al., 1996; Ploghaus et al., 2003). Mayr (2004) showed that the degree of conflict was not correlated with the reaction time on subsequent trials and explained how a repetition-priming effect could account for the behavioral data. Thus, daMCC is engaged in both action anticipation and monitoring of ongoing action outcomes.

Dopaminergic signals produced when a predicted reward is not received modulate daMCC activity and it uses these predictive error signals to modulate behavior. Holroyd et al. (2004) showed that daMCC responds in the predicted manner to internally and externally generated error signals with higher daMCC activity in response to unpredicted errors. Also, Brown and Braver (2005) compared the error-likelihood model against conflict-monitoring. Notably, the error likelihood computational model produced greater daMCC activity on trials calling for a motor change than for simple go trials, greater activity on change trials that had been previously cued as likely to produce high rates of errors (i.e., more likely to require change than go trials), and greater activity on correct go trials (which should not produce a conflict signal), and higher activity on correct, high likelihood of change/error trials than on correct, low-likelihood of error go trials. The prediction error theory accounts for error-related observations of daMCC and can explain anticipatory and correct trial performance.

8.3. Feedback-mediated decision making

The daMCC feedback-mediated decision making model (Bush, 2009) is an extension of the reward-based decision-making concept proposed by Shima and Tanji (1998), Bush et al. (2002) and Williams et al. (2004). It was broadened to accommodate more complex factors than simple rewards or reward omissions such as errors, stimulus-response associations, memory, motivation, emotional state, and pain that are encoded by daMCC and influence decisions. This concept argues that there is not a single function for daMCC, but rather that the daMCC is a local intracortical network comprised of functionally heterogeneous neurons that anticipate and detect motivationally salient targets, indicate novelty, influence motor responses, encode reward values and signal errors and its role in cognition is to act within cognitive/ motor networks to increase the efficiency of decision-making and execution by integrating input from various sources including context, motivation, evaluation of reward and error, and representations from cognitive and emotional networks.

Bush et al. (2002) used fMRI to evaluate a task similar to that of Shima et al. (1991) that exploited the large difference in the proportions of reduced reward and constant reward cells and demonstrated daMCC activation in response to reward reduction. These data supported a role for daMCC in reward-based decision making. Subsequently, using the same task and intracranial recordings in human patients about to undergo daMCC ablation, Williams et al. (2004) showed that single daMCC neurons increased responses to reduced monetary rewards and the ablation impaired reward-based motor selection.

Thus, the mechanism of how a local daMCC network operates and contributes to cognition is consistent with observed behavior. Fig. 12 summarizes the broad steps engaged in this model. Novelty and target detection cells would similarly enhance attention to relevant stimuli. Set shifting is evoked before detailed motor planning to prepare for movements in a particular context. Signaling from anticipatory/timing cells have predictive value,



Fig. 12. Flow diagram of steps engaged during feedback-mediated, decision making in daMCC. It begins with sensory afferents, including nociceptive ones that signal a mismatch instantly, and a very early set shift signal. Depending on task demands, memory and sensory context are evaluated and determine anticipatory and motor preparation that controls motor output systems. Error-mismatch detection following a behavioral response modifies memory, expectations and the motor plan via a feedback mechanism.

and improve the processing of salient stimuli. Motor response cells in daMCC have been shown to contribute to complex motor behaviors, especially during non-routine tasks. Finally, reward and error neurons provide feedback that guides future actions based on memory and modifies anticipatory activity. It modifies pain avoidance and rewarded behaviors to accommodate current and predicted contexts and relevant movements.

9. pMCC: parietal input, rapid motor responses, body orientation, nociception

A primary role of pMCC in brain function is reflexive orientation of the body in space to sensory stimuli including noxious ones. It contrasts significantly from activity in aMCC where working memory requires longer times to modulate cognitive/motor functions. This view is supported by the fact that pMCC has almost no evoked emotion activity (Vogt, 2005), neuronal discharges in the cCPMA have short latency, pre-movement responses (above), and electrical stimulation of muscles evoke potentials that are likely in area 24d which is part of the cCPMA (Niddam et al., 2005). Moreover, the time delay to nociceptive evoked activity is too short for emotional or cognitive assessment. Frot et al. (2008) chronically implanted electrodes in human cingulate cortex and recorded laser-evoked noxious thermal responses. Responses in the pMCC (including cCPMA) had a delay to onset of \sim 150 ms. They concluded that the medial pain system is not devoted exclusively to pain affect, but is also involved in fast attentional orienting and motor withdrawal responses to nociceptive inputs.

Before exploring pMCC function further, the connections of this region need consideration to orient to the types of information that is available for processing therein. As frontal connections are widespread over all cingulate cortex (Morecraft and Tanji, 2009) and do not delimit parts of MCC, these projections will not be considered. Parietal afferents, however, distinguish between the two MCC subregions and mediate key pMCC functions.

9.1. Parietal afferents & functions

Parietal cortex plays a crucial role in modulating MCC during multisensory action monitoring. This includes responses to noxious stimuli as such stimuli are effective in alerting to a mismatch between expected and actual motor outcomes. Parietal afferents to MCC are shown in Fig. 13A and B with anterograde (Vogt and Pandya, 1987) and (C and D) retrograde (Morecraft et al., 2004) labeling. The projection map of the latter study was coregistered to the same flat map used in the former (Vogt, 2005). Inferior parietal cortex projects mainly to pMCC and only lightly to the posterior part of aMCC. A light projection to the gyral surface areas a24a'/b' was also shown by Cavada and Goldman-Rakic (1989) but is not to the rCPMA or to any part of ACC. Injections of retrograde tracers into the cingulate sulcus show a substantial difference between afferents to areas p24c' (Fig. 13C) and 24d (D). Input to the former arises from primary somatosensory and motor cortices, and areas 5, 7a and 7b of the medial intraparietal sulcus (IPS), and medial parietal areas 7m, Opt and MST. In contrast, area 24d receives input from only area 7b of the lateral IPS and areas Opt, MST and 7m.

Each parietal area provides specific information to pMCC to guide body orientation and reflexive movements. MacKay and Crammond (1987) analyzed neuron discharges in area 5 on either side of the IPS in behaving monkeys and observed anticipatory activity as discharge rates increased whenever a specific body part was approached as though contact would be made. They also responded to cutaneous and proprioceptive stimuli of the target body area and to expected reward, visual cues or sounds of familiar people. Area 7a had similar anticipatory output but without somatosensory receptive fields. Andersen (1995) and Andersen et al. (1990a, 1990b) evaluated posterior parietal area 7a and found eye-position dependent tuning for location of head-centered coordinate space. These neurons were light-sensitive, had memory properties (i.e., delay-period firing) and saccade-related activity, all of which were affected by eye position. They concluded that area 7a plays a role in making coordinated transformations for visually guided movement. Crowe et al. (2004) took this further by evaluating neurons during a maze solution task and found that 1/ 4 of neurons were spatially tuned to maze path direction and were not active in naïve animals. The neuron tuning was associated with the maze solution not saccades or visual receptive fields and this information is provided to pMCC.

The multisensory nature of lateral IPS neurons was shown by Stricanne et al. (1996) in monkeys; about 1/3 of neurons were



Fig. 13. Inferior parietal afferents (A) shown with labeled terminals following injection of [3H]-amino acids (B) hatched. Fundal cortex is grey lining the depth of the cingulate sulcus. Retrograde labeling of all neurons following tracer injections into area p24c' (C) and area 24d (D).

driven by auditory or visual stimulation and half of cells showing auditory driving changed in an eye-centered manner and 1/3 of these responded in head-centered coordinates. Neurons showed significant auditory-evoked activity during the memory period and of these 44% discharged in an eye-centered manner. For a substantial number of neurons in all categories, the magnitude of the response was modulated by eye position. Thus, the lateral IPS cortex transforms auditory signals for oculomotor purposes and neurons are concerned with the abstract quality of where a stimulus is in space, independent of the exact nature of the stimulus, and this information is provided to pMCC.

9.2. Pain processing

Parietal nociceptive neurons provide context for visual and spatial orientation that reaches pMCC as noted above. Dong et al. (1994) evaluated neuronal discharges in the trigeminal region of area 7b in awake monkeys and many neurons were responsive only to visual stimulation. The somatosensory neurons were thermoreceptive with nociceptive or innocuous properties, while visually responsive neurons responded only to innocuous stimulation. Most importantly, threatening or novel visuosensory stimuli that approached the face aligned with the most sensitive portion of the cutaneous receptive field evoked the greatest discharges and these were often maintained by keeping the visual targets in place. These findings support the view that pending noxious stimuli provide orienting, anticipatory information to pMCC. Mohr et al. (2005) showed three parts of human cingulate cortex are differentially activated by either externally or self-administered noxious thermal stimuli and showed that pMCC is active during the application of externally generated noxious stimuli. Responses increased with increasing pain perception independent of certainty/uncertainty or self-/externally administered stimuli.

The features of noxious stimuli that drive each part of human MCC differ. Most activity generated by noxious and innocuous cutaneous stimulation in humans is in the rCPMA (Moulton et al., 2005). Büchel et al. (2002) generated nociceptive activity in the human rCPMA with stimulus intensity ramps and stimulus perception. In contrast, an increase in fMRI signal in the cCPMA occurs during noxious muscle but not noxious cutaneous stimulation (Henderson et al., 2006). This is the first demonstration of a nociceptive response in the cCPMA with fMRI, suggests a pivotal link to muscle stimulation and confirms the evoked potential work of Niddam et al. (2005). Since emotional activations are infrequent in this region (Fig. 11B) and nociceptive responses are too short (~150 ms; Frot et al., 2008) to engage conscious perception, it appears that deep tissue nociceptive driving of the cCPMA is linked to orienting the body toward noxious stimuli possibly via parietal afferents discussed above rather than evoking affect and motoric (targeted) decision making. These observations suggest that pMCC orients the body to sensory stimuli including nociceptive ones and sensory activations may not be specific for noxious stimuli.

The cCPMA, however, does not depend on parietal afferents for its primary nociceptive information. Noxious stimuli directly drive the MITN projections to MCC (above). These stimuli themselves are non-ambiguous and negatively coded. This short circuit provides for more rapid engagement of the rCPMA and bypasses a stage of evaluating sensory stimuli for significance thus providing an intermediate stage of motor processing for the body before more detailed and cognitively demanding outputs are generated in daMCC and the rCPMA.

While the cCPMA is engaged in rapid orientation of the body to noxious stimuli, this activity can be modulated by cognitive processes. Singer et al. (2004) (Fig. 10E, green) showed that painrelated activation associated with experiencing pain in oneself activates pMCC. This emphasizes the internal orientation function of this region in contrast to that of aMCC which engages decisionmaking processes associated with pain avoidance and relief. Salomons et al. (2004) (Fig. 10D) manipulated the subjects' belief that they had control over a nociceptive stimulus, while the stimulus itself was held constant. Pain that was perceived to be controllable resulted in activation in pMCC (blue, Fig. 10C), while the nociceptive stimuli evaluated for both controllable and uncontrollable conditions (green) overlapped rostrally with the controllable site and included aMCC. Finally, the active process of scratching an itch is a reflexive process that activates pMCC along with the supplementary motor area (Papoiu et al., 2013; Fig. 10B). Thus, subjects may have control over reflexive motor activity in pMCC, while nociceptive activity in aMCC requires conscious attending, assessment of relevant contextual cues and preparatory activity for cognitive processing, motor control and memory.

10. Diseases of midcingulate cortex and drug responses

The vulnerability of MCC in human disease both confirms the unique organization of MCC and provides a basis for developing animal models. This is not to say that MCC is the only region involved in a particular disease, only that it is prominent among multiple players and is often linked to specific symptoms and functional impairments shown with behavioral testing.

Not surprisingly, since aMCC is highly responsive to acute noxious stimuli, studies of chronic pain show a vulnerability of MCC and particularly aMCC to chronic activation. In a study of female patients with atypical facial pain, thermal hand stimulation evoked robust activation to noxious over innocuous stimuli in aMCC (Derbyshire et al., 1994). The importance of vaMCC in pain affect is suggested by Hubbard et al. (2014) who explored patients with migraine headaches not currently in pain that display high anxiety, maladaptive coping strategies and a high degree of pain catastrophizing. Catastrophizing is a cognitive strategy for coping with chronic pain (Osman et al., 2000) and reflects poor coping abilities (Turk and Rudy, 1992). Fig. 11C shows the outcomes of the Hubbard study that localized vaMCC atrophy negatively correlated with catastrophizing using voxel-based morphometry (C1) and assessment of tissue surface atrophy (C2). This site does not involve the daMCC suggesting a unique role of the vaMCC in pain fear, anxiety and coping. Finally, Kulkarni et al. (2007) evaluated glucose metabolism during the experience of osteoarthritic pain and observed elevated metabolism in aMCC, pACC and PCC. Thus, MCC can be a victim of its own acute pain processing functions during chronic stimulation.

Chiu et al. (2012) published an important study differentiating hypoperfusion of MCC in an analysis of progressive supranuclear **palsy** (PSP) and frontotemporal dementia with tau pathology (FTD) and their findings are shown in Fig. 14B. The black site of hypoperfusion is for PSP and is mainly in pMCC but also encroached on aMCC, while the grey site is for FTD and is mainly in aMCC (white dots emphasize overlap between the two sites). Note the additional site for FTD in sACC. Hypoperfusion in pMCC was correlated with the Stroop color-word and Weigl color-form sorting tests, while that in FTD engaged mainly aMCC and sACC. Thus, cognitive decline and behavioral changes during the course of PSP are associated with neuron loss and hypo-perfusion mainly in pMCC, while that in FTD is in aMCC and sACC (areas 25, s24 and s32). This study critically supports the differential vulnerability of MCC subregions to neurodegeneration and resulting cognitive decline.

Bertocci et al. (2012) (Fig. 14C) sought to identify biomarkers in female patients with either **unipolar depression** or bipolar disease to differentiate them with fMRI. Subjects performed an emotional face, n-back task with high (2–back) and low (0–back) memory

loads flanked by two positive, negative or neutral face distracters to examine executive control. High memory load with neutral face distracters elicited greater bilateral and left pMCC activity in unipolar than in healthy and bipolar females, respectively. During high memory load with neutral face distracters, elevated pMCC activity in unipolar depression suggests abnormal recruitment of attention-control circuitry for task performance. Differential patterns of functional abnormalities in neural circuitry supporting attentional control during emotion regulation, especially in the pMCC, is a potential measure to distinguish unipolar from bipolar



Fig. 14. Disease vulnerabilities of MCC. (A) Flat map showing MCC borders. (B) PSP, Chiu et al. (2012; overlap with FTD–grey-marked with white dots). (C) Unipolar depression, Bertocci et al. (2012). (D) PTSD, Shin et al. (2009); (E) spontaneous tic responses in patients with Tourette syndrome (TS; E1) and comparison to healthy control generation of tic behaviors (E2; Wang et al., 2011). (F) Pre-tic activity in TS, Bohlhalter et al. (2006) (B, C, D and F reoriented to match flat map). Right panel: aMCC drug responses. G. Methylphenidate in ADHD, Bush (2009). (H) Ibuprofen following molar extraction, Hodkinson et al. (2015). I1.-3. Placebo (H1), 0.05 (H2) and 0.1 (H3) mg kg⁻¹ h⁻¹ ketamine progressively blocks noxious thermal-evoked aMCC (asterisks; no response at highest dose; not shown; Sprenger et al., 2006).

females, it confirms the unique vulnerability of pMCC and provides a behavioral probe to study depression and other disorders that selectively impact pMCC.

Shin et al. (2009) published an important study that assessed glucose metabolism in veterans with **posttraumatic stress disorder** (PTSD) and their twin siblings without PTSD. Subtraction of glucose metabolism in the healthy twins from that in the combat-exposed veterans with PTSD revealed higher rates of resting glucose metabolism in pMCC (Fig. 14D). The previous two clinical studies suggest behavioral approaches to assessing this alteration in PTSD. The Stroop color-word and Weigl color-form sorting tests (Chiu et al., 2012) and the emotional face, n-back task with high and low memory load (Bertocci et al., 2012) could be used to examine executive control in conjunction with fMRI in PTSD.

Behavioral changes follow aMCC impairments in a number of other diseases including obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and Tourette syndrome (TS) that can be traced to the essential role of this subregion in decision making and motor control. However, findings from two excellent studies of TS raise interesting questions as there is a mismatch between the findings. While the "ACC" activity appears to justify an overall congruence in the findings, a finer grain analysis of MCC subregions suggests the data are not consistent and the aMCC/pMCC dichotomy may help resolve such a problem. Thus, the paragraphs below on TS are meant to show how cingulate subregional models can perform as a predictive tool to generate new study designs and data analyses.

Disruption of aMCC function in **obsessive-compulsive disorder** is well established and a thorough review of this problem is provided by Saxena et al. (2009) that emphasizes the importance of checking symptomatology in relation to aMCC impairment. Indeed, cingulotomy ablation targeted at aMCC has been used for OCD (Ballantine et al., 1977) and a case of a young girl with focal seizure activity and OCD was reported by Levin and Duchowny (1991). She had medically resistant seizures and severe OCD symptoms including washing and checking compulsions combined with progressive intellectual and psychosocial deterioration. Intracranial electroencephalography showed a focal seizure in the right aMCC and a cingulotomy was performed (Fig. 15A). Postcingulotomy she was seizure free and there was a significant improvement of her OCD symptoms.

Mataix-Cols et al. (2004) evaluated patients with a symptomprovocation protocol in four conditions with fMRI while viewing alternating blocks of emotional (washing-, checking-, hoardingrelated, or aversive, symptom-unrelated) and neutral pictures, while imagining scenarios about the content of each picture. The different OCD symptom dimensions were mediated by relatively distinct structures that are implicated in cognitive processing and emotion. The activation in daMCC shown in Fig. 15B was associated



Fig. 15. aMCC vulnerabilities in OCD and ADHD. (A) Levin and Duchowny (1991); epilepsy case of OCD relieved with an aMCC-focused ablation. (B) Mataix-Cols et al. (2004); OCD with pronounced checking provocation. (C) Fitzgerald et al. (2005); (C1) control and (C2) OCD error-processing in the absence of OCD symptom expression (asterisks note two differences from controls). (D) Shaw et al. (2006); (D1) cortical shrinkage for all ADHD cases versus those with persistent (D2) and worst outcomes (D3) 5 years later.

with checking provocation and the cognitive roles of this subregion include error detection and feedback-mediated decision making. Fitzgerald et al. (2005) evaluated error processing in OCD during performance of a cognitive task designed to elicit errors but not OCD symptoms. As predicted, healthy subjects demonstrated aMCC activation during error commission (Fig. 15C1). In the OCD patients, however, the activation was more dorsal and involved mainly the pre-supplementary motor area. The failed response in aMCC is shown with an asterisk in Fig. 15C2. Additionally, there was a unique error-related activation of the pACC and activity in this region was positively correlated with symptom severity in the patients (asterisk in sACC). Thus, error-processing abnormalities are profound in both aMCC and pACC in the absence of symptom expression. Apparently OCD patients use emotional activations in pACC to resolve conflict rather than daMCC. Such a strategy has greatly reduced effectiveness as emotional associations provide only a limited range of options compared to cognitive associations available to daMCC.

The aMCC is also vulnerable in attention-deficit/hyperactivity **disorder** and a detailed account of this is provided by Bush (2009). The daMCC does not activate in ADHD during the counting Stroop (Bush et al., 1999) supporting an impairment in cognitive processing. Structural changes have also been shown in adults with ADHD as they express selective shrinkage in aMCC (Makris et al., 2007). A particularly intriguing study of children with ADHD was published by Shaw et al. (2006) who showed that, after adjustment for their intelligence quotient and mean overall cortical thickness, the aMCC had pronounced shrinkage (Fig. 15D1). These children were followed for 5 years after their first scans and cortical thickness in pMCC remained shrunken in individuals that had persistent symptoms (defined by DSM-IV criteria; D2) and worse outcomes (D3) measured by the Children's Global Assessment Scale. The latter group also showed atrophy in the dorsal PCC suggesting wide cingulate damage. Those children that remitted had better outcomes and showed no shrinkage and the differences were not due to stimulant drugs. Thus, children with ADHD can be differentiated according to persistence and outcomes based on the thickness of aMCC and pMCC.

10.1. The problem of Tourette syndrome

ADHD and OCD have a high comorbidity with TS; 60% for the former and 27% for the latter (Freeman et al., 2000). Thus, it is worth going one step further as syndrome overlap could be associated with aspects of MCC impairment. The data, however, are in conflict when viewed from the perspective of the MCC dichotomy. Wang et al. (2011) (Fig. 14E.) used independent components analysis of patients with TS during spontaneous tics and healthy controls while simulating tic behaviors. While both groups showed activation in pACC (shown for the TS group in Fig. 14E1), the activity in aMCC in the TS group was lower than controls (Fig. 14E2 inactivation site white-stroke highlighted) and lower activity was associated with more severe tics. This suggests that a failure to control tic behavior or premonitory urges that generate them is due to failure of aMCC function.

Bohlhalter et al. (2006) evaluated TS patients with fMRI 2 s before and at tic onset without regard to tic type (e.g., eye blinking, grimacing, abdominal tensing, arm stretching, coughing, grunting or barking). They found that pMCC and the supplementary motor area activated before tic onset (Fig. 14F) and, at tic onset, this activity was virtually non-existent. In contrast, significant activation at tic onset was generated in sensorimotor areas. It is striking that the cCPMA in the pMCC (asterisk in Fig. 14F) was a focal site of activity. This can be viewed as consistent with the function of pMCC in reflexive motor control versus feedback-mediated decision making of the daMCC and rCPMA. What is not consistent

is the reduction in aMCC activity in Wang et al. (2011) and increased pre-tic activity in pMCC (Bohlhalter et al., 2006). There are a number of possible reasons for the mismatch in the two MCC subregions. (1) Both TS populations contained about equal proportions of patients with comorbid OCD and ADHD instead of TS only patients. (2) Each study had small group sizes of 10 and 13 subjects. (3) The tics themselves were variable and focused on those that would not cause motion artifact in the scanner. Selecting a uniform type of tic for analysis could be informative. (4) As TS evolves with age, a tighter age category may provide more consistent findings. While the available studies are excellent and there are problems finding an adequate number of patients with similar characteristics, the findings leave questions in terms of MCC impairment. This conundrum is an example of how subregion analysis provides models for further experimental testing that may lead to a coherent understanding of MCC-impaired function and biomarker(s) of TS.

10.2. Drug activity in aMCC

In view of the many differences in chemoarchitecture including receptor binding noted above, it is not surprising that drug selectivity is expressed in their actions in cingulate subregions including MCC. A few examples of this selectivity for aMCC are shown in the right panel in Fig. 14. That drug responses are being identified that are relatively selective for aMCC further enhances the predictive validity of the MCC dichotomy. Drugs that elevate activity can enhance lost aMCC functions, while drugs that block aMCC activity can reduce pain and other amplified functions that can be difficult to control. Here we consider three examples of such effects.

First, Bush (2009; Fig. 14G) showed in children with ADHD that 6 weeks of methylphenidate treatment increases multi-source interference-evoked activity in daMCC and the adjacent presupplementary motor area. Thus, ADHD hypoactivation of daMCC is reversed with methylphenidate and partially accounts for the drug's effectiveness. Second, Hodkinson et al. (2015; Fig. 14H) showed that the commonly used nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug ibuprofen does not alter cerebral blood flow under pain-free conditions, but blood flow following third molar extraction was significantly reduced in aMCC in conjunction with a significant reduction in pain ratings following ibuprofen administration. Third, Sprenger et al. (2006) evaluated healthy volunteers with fMRI while receiving noxious thermal stimuli in conjunction with placebo (Fig. 14I1.) or increasing doses of ketamine (I2, I3, and no response in aMCC, not shown). The ketamine isomer used is thought to have stronger analgesic potency and a preferable side effect profile including less intense psychomimetic adverse effects. During placebo administration, the pain network was activated including aMCC. Pain unpleasantness and intensity ratings declined as ketamine dosage was increased and decreased pain perception with ketamine was dose-dependent and associated with reduction of pain-induced activations. These latter two findings confirm the role of aMCC in acute pain as discussed above and suggest that more effective pain relief can be achieved by drugs that target aMCC.

11. Perspectives on midcingulate cortex and future challenges

Anatomical organization sets the table for functional studies as it is a stable perspective on functional units of cortex. The cytoarchitectural borders of aMCC and pMCC have proven to be of substantial value in assessing functional imaging findings as the past two decades has produced a plethora of observations to show that the eight-subregion model of cingulate cortex is robust and has predictive value. Clinical imaging studies including those of drug activity, are finding this model more and more valuable as each subregion has restricted disease vulnerabilities. These findings not only verify the predictive validity of this model but suggest instances where specific behavioral tests will have value in exploring cognitive deficits mediated by impairments in individual subregions. Additionally, drug development may follow a more rational course as molecules are identified to target each subregion to mollify the functions of impaired subregions.

The problem of cingulate structure/function relationships and their impairment by disease is not solved, however. The next level of cingulate research will involve understanding the structure, functions and diseases of individual cingulate areas rather than subregions. Even with the current level of imaging resolution we are seeing activity in different parts of each subregion (i.e., sulcal versus gyral areas). The more demanding imaging problem of individual areas including correlation of cytoarchitectural features will require high resolution histological methods to produce accurate 3-demensional localizations. The current human flat map designates 30 cytoarchitectural areas; however, there are further divisions within such areas and more will become available over the coming years as we reach the ultimate goal of identifying 48 cingulate areas as proposed by the Vogt and Vogt (1919). Interestingly, the same essential structure/function approach will be used to evaluate individual areas as for regions and subregions. Thus, the challenge of human imaging is still quite large and has many more decades to play out until we understand the structure, functions and diseases of each cingulate area. This should result in more robust biomarkers for each disease, more cogent animal models and highly selective drug therapeutics.

This work was supported by Cingulum Neurosciences Institute.

References

- Akkal, D., Bioulac, B., Audin, J., Burbaud, P., 2002. Comparison of neuronal activity in the rostral supplementary and cingulate motor areas during a task with cognitive and motor demands. Eur. J. Neurosci. 15, 887–904.
- Allport, D.A., 1980. Attention and performance. In: Claxton, G. (Ed.), Cognitive Psychology: New Directions. Routledge & Kegan Paul, London, pp. 112–153.
- Allport, D.A., 1987. Selection for action: some behavioral and neurophysiological considerations of attention and action. In: Heuer, H., Sanders, A.F. (Eds.), Perspectives on Perception and Action. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 395–419.
- Andersen, R.A., 1995. Encoding of intention and spatial location in the in the posterior parietal cortex. Cereb. Cortex 5, 457–469.
 Andersen, R.A., Asanuma, C., Essick, G., Siegel, R.M., 1990a. Corticocortical
- Andersen, R.A., Asanuma, C., Essick, G., Siegel, R.M., 1990a. Corticocortical connections of anatomically and physiologically defined subdivisions within the inferior parietal lobule. J. Comp. Neurol. 296, 65–113.
- Andersen, R.A., Bracewell, R.M., Barash, S., Gnadt, J.W., Fogassi, L., 1990b. Eye position effectson visual, memory, and saccade-related activity in areas LIP and 7a of macaque. J. Neurosci. 10, 1176–1196.
- Badgaiyan, R.D., 2000. Executive control, willed actions, and nonconscious processing. Hum. Brain Mapp. 9, 38–41.
- Ballantine, H.T., Levy, B.S., Dagi, T.F., Giriunas, I.B., 1977. Cingulotomy for psychiatric illness: report of 13 years' experience. In: Sweet, W.H., Obrador, S., Martin-Rodriquez, J.S. (Eds.), Treatment in Psychiatry, Pain and Epilepsy. University Park Press, Baltimore, pp. 333–353.
- Press, Baltimore, pp. 333–353. Becerra, L.R., Breiter, H.C., Stojanovic, M., Fishman, S., Edwards, A., Comite, A.R., et al., 1999. Human brain activation under controlled thermal stimulation and habituation to noxious heat: an fMRI study. Magn. Res. Med. 41, 1044–1057.
- Benedict, R.H.B., Shucard, D.W., Santa Maria, M.P., Shucard, J.L., Abara, J.P., Coad, M.L., et al., 2002. Covert auditory attention generates activation in the rostral/dorsal anterior cingulate cortex. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 14 (4), 637–645.
- Bertocci, M.A., Bebko, G.M., Mullin, B.C., Langenecker, S.A., Ladouceur, C.D., Almeida, J.R.C., Phillips, M.L., 2012. Abnormal anterior cingulate cortical activity during emotional n-back task performance distinguishes bipolar from unipolar depressed females. Psychol. Med. 42, 1417–1428. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/ S003329171100242X.
- Biber, M.P., Kneisley, L.W., LaVail, J.H., 1978. Cortical neurons projecting to the cervical and lumbar enlargements of the spinal cord in young and adult rhesus monkeys. Exp. Neurol. 59, 492–508.
- Blair, K., Marsh, A.A., Morton, J., Vythilingam, M., Jones, M., Mondillo, K., Pine, D.C., et al., 2006. Choosing the lesser of two evils, the better of two goods: specifying the roles of ventromedial prefrontal cortex and dorsal anterior cingulate in object choice. J. Neurosci. 26 (44), 11379–11386.
- Bohlhalter, S., Goldfine, A., Matteson, S., Garraux, G., Hanakawa, T., Kansaku, K., Wurzman, R., Hallett, M., 2006. Neural correlates of tic generation in Tourette

syndrome: an event-related functional MRI study. Brain 129, 2029–2037. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/brain/aw1050.

- Braak, H., 1976. A primitive gigantopyramidal field buried in the depth of the cingulate sulcus of the human brain. Brain Res. 109, 219–233.
- Brodmann, K., 1909. Vergleichende Lokalisationslehre der Grosshirnrinde in ihren Prinzipien dargestellt auf Grund des Zellenbaues. Barth, Leipzig.
- Brown, J.W., Braver, T.S., 2005. Learned predictions of error likelihood in the anterior cingulate cortex. Science 307, 1118–1121.
- Büchel, C., Bornhövd, K., Quante, M., Glauche, V., Bromm, B., Weiller, C., 2002. Dissociable neural responses related to pain intensity, stimulus intensity, and stimulus awareness within the anterior cingulate cortex: A parametric singletrial laser functional magnetic resonance imaging study. J. Neurosci. 22, 970– 976.
- Bush, G., 2009. Dorsal anterior midcingulate cortex: Roles in normal cognition and disruption in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 245– 274 Chapter 12.
- Bush, G., Frazier, J.A., Rauch, S.L., Seidman, L.J., Whalen, P.J., Jenike, M.A., et al., 1999. Anterior cingulate cortex dysfunction in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder revealed by fMRI and the Counting Stroop. Biol. Psychiatry 45, 1542– 1552.
- Bush, G., Luu, P., Posner, M., 2000. Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn. Sci. 4, 215–222.
- Bush, G., Vogt, B.A., Holmes, J., Dale, A.M., Greve, D., Jenike, M.A., et al., 2002. Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex: a role in reward-based decision making. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 523–528 Epub 2001 Dec 26. PubMed PMID: 11756669; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC117593.
- Bush, G., Whalen, P.J., Rosen, B.R., Jenike, M.A., McInerney, S.C., Rauch, S.L., 1998. The counting Stroop: an interference task specialized for functional neuroimaging validation study with functional MRI. Hum. Brain Mapp. 6, 270–282.
- Carter, C.S., Braver, T.S., Barch, D.M., Botvinick, M.M., Noll, D., Cohen, J.D., 1998. Anterior cingulate cortex, error detection, and the online monitoring of performance. Science 280, 747–749.
- Cavada, C., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1989. Posterior parietal cortex in rhesus monkey: I: Parcellation of areas based on distinctive limbic and sensory corticocortical connections. J. Comp. Neurol. 287, 393–421.
- Chiu, W.Z., Papma, J.M., de Koning, I., Kaat, L.D., Seelaar, H., Reijs, A.E.M., et al., 2012. Midcingulate involvement in progressive supranuclear palsy and tau positive frontotemporal dementia. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 83, e910–e915. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2011-302035.
- Coles, M.G., Scheffers, M.K., Fournier, L., 1995. Where did you go wrong? Errors, partial errors, and the nature of human information processing. Acta Psychol. (Amst.) 90, 129–144.
- Coles, M.G., Scheffers, M.K., Holroyd, C.B., 2001. Why is there an ERN/Ne on correct trials? Response representations, stimulus-related components, and the theory of error-processing. Biol. Psychiatry 56, 173–189.
- Corbetta, M., Miezin, F.M., Dobmeyer, S., Shulman, G.L., Petersen, S.E., 1991. Selective and divided attention during visual discriminations of shape, color, and speed: functional anatomy by positron emission tomography. J. Neurosci. 11, 2383– 2402.
- Crowe, D.A., Chafee, M.V., Averbeck, B.B., Georgopoulos, A.P., 2004. Neural activity in primate parietal area 7a related to spatial analysis of visual mazes. Cereb. Cortex 14 (1), 23–34.
- Derbyshire, S.W.G., Jones, A.K.P., Devani, P., Friston, K.J., Feinmann, C., Harris, M., Pearce, S., Watson, J.D.G., Frackowiak, R.S.J., 1994. Cerebral responses to pain in patients with atypical facial pain measured by positron emission tomography. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 57, 1166–1172.
- Destrieux, C., Fischl, B., Dale, A., Halgren, E., 2010. Automatic parcellation of human cortical gyri and sulci using standard anatomical nomenclature. Neuroimage 53, 1–15. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.06.010.
- Devinsky, O., Morrell, M.J., Vogt, B.A., 1995. Contributions of anterior cingulate cortex to behaviour. Brain 118 (Pt. 1), 279–306 PubMed PMID: 7895011.
 Dong, W.K., Chudler, E.H., Sugiyama, K., Roberts, V.J., Hayashi, T., 1994.
- Dong, W.K., Chudler, E.H., Sugiyama, K., Roberts, V.J., Hayashi, T., 1994. Somatosensory, multisensory, and task-related neurons in cortical area 7b (PF) of unanesthetized monkeys. J. Neurophysiol. 72 (2), 542–567.
- Drevets, W.C., Raichle, M.E., 1998. Reciprocal suppression of regional cerebral blood flow during emotional versus higher cognitive processes: Implications for interactions between emotion and cognition. Cogn. Emot. 12, 353–385.
- Dum, R.P., Strick, P.L., 1991. The origin of corticospinal projections from the premotor areas in the frontal lobe. J. Neurosci. 11, 667–689.
- Erpelding, N., Moayedi, M., Davis, K.D., 2012. Cortical thickness correlates of pain and temperature sensitivity. Pain 153, 1602–1609.
- Fiehler, K., Ullsperger, M., von Cramon, D.Y., 2004. Neural correlates of error detection and error correction: is there a common neuroanatomical substrate? Eur. J. Neurosci. 19, 3081–3087.
- Fitzgerald, K.D., Welsh, R.C., Gehring, W.J., Abelson, J.L., Himle, J.A., Liberzon, I., Taylor, S.F., 2005. Error-related hyperactivity of the anterior cingulate cortex in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 287–294.
- Freeman, R.D., Fast, D.K., Burd, L., Kerbeshian, J., Robertson, M.M., Sandor, P., 2000. An international perspective on Tourette syndrome: selected findings from 3500 individuals in 22 countries. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 42, 436–447.
- Frot, M., Mauguière, F., Magnin, M., Garcia-Larrea, L., 2008. Parallel processing of nociceptive A-δ inputs in SII and midcingulate cortex in humans. J. Neurosci. 28 (4), 944–952.
- Gehring, W.J., Fencsik, D.E., 2001. Functions of the medial frontal cortex in the processing of conflict and errors. J. Neurosci. 21, 9430–9437.

- Gemba, H., Sasaki, K., Brooks, V.B., 1986. 'Error' potentials in limbic cortex (anterior cingulate area 24) of monkeys during motor learning. Neurosci. Lett. 70, 223– 227.
- Glasser, M.F., Van Essen, D.C., 2011. Mapping human cortical areas in vivo based on myelin content as revealed by T1- and T2-Weighted MRI. J. Neurosci. 31 (32), 11597–11616.
- Hadland, K.A., Rushworth, M.F., Gaffan, D., Passingham, R.E., 2003. The anterior cingulate and reward-guided selection of actions. J. Neurophysiol. 89, 1161– 1164.
- Hatanaka, N., Tokuno, H., Hamada, I., Inase, M., Ito, Y., Imanishi, M., Hasegawa, N., Akazawa, T., Nambu, A., Takada, M., 2003. Thalamocortical and intracortical connections of monkey cingulate motor areas. J. Comp. Neurol. 462, 121–138.
- Henderson, L.A., Bandler, R., Gandevia, S.C., Macefield, V.G., 2006. Distinct forebrain activity patterns during deep versus superficial pain. Pain 120, 286–296.
- Hochman, E.Y., Vaidya, A.R., Fellows, L.K., 2014. Evidence for a role for the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex in disengaging from an incorrect action. PLoS One 9 (6), e101126. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101126.
- Hodkinson, D.J., Khawaja, N., O'Daly, O., Thacker, M.A., Zelaya, F.O., Wooldridge, C.L., Renton, T.F., Williams, S.C.R., Howard, M.A., 2015. Cerebral analgesic response to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug ibuprofen. Pain 156, 301–1310.
- Hoffstaedter, F., Grefkes, C., Zilles, K., Eickhoff, S.B., 2013. The "what" and "when" of self-initiated movements. Cereb. Cortex 23, 520–530. doi:http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1093/cercor/bhr391.
- Holroyd, C.B., Nieuwenhuis, S., Yeung, N., Nystrom, L., Mars, R.B., Coles, M.G., et al., 2004. Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex shows fMRI response to internal and external error signals. Nat. Neurosci. 7, 497–498.
- Holroyd, C.B., Yeung, N., Coles, M.G., Cohen, J.D., 2005. A mechanism for error detection in speeded response time tasks. J. Exp. Psychol. 134, 163–191.
- Hubbard, C.S., Khan, S.A., Keaser, M.L., Mathur, V.A., Goyal, M., Seminowicz, D.A., 2014. Altered brain structure and function correlate with disease severity and pain catastrophizing in migraine patients. eNeuro 1 (1), e2014. http://dx.doi. org/10.1523/ENEURO.0006-14.2014.
- Isomura, Y., Ito, Y., Akazawa, T., Nambu, A., Takada, M., 2003. Neural coding of 'attention for action' and response selection in primate anterior cingulate cortex. J. Neurosci. 23, 8002–8012.
- Kawashima, R., Satoh, K., Itoh, H., Ono, S., Furumoto, S., Gotoh, R., et al., 1996. Functional anatomy of GO/NO-GO discrimination and response selection—a PET study in man. Brain Res. 728, 79–89.
- Kirsch, P., Schienle, A., Stark, R., Sammer, G., Blecker, C., Walter, B., et al., 2003. Anticipation of reward in a nonaversive differential conditioning paradigm and the brain reward system: an event-related fMRI study. Neuroimage 20, 1086– 1095.
- Koyama, T., Kato, K., Tanaka, Y.Z., Mikami, A., 2001. Anterior cingulate activity during pain-avoidance and reward tasks in monkeys. Neurosci. Res. 39, 421–430.
- Kulkarni, B., Bentley, D.E., Elliott, R., Julyan, P.J., Boger, E., Watson, A., et al., 2007. Arthritic pain Is processed in brain areas concerned with emotions and fear. Arth. Rheum. 56 (4), 1345–1354. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/art.22460.
- Kulkarni, B., Bentley, D.E., Elliott, R., Youell, P., Watson, A., Derbyshire, S.W.G., et al., 2005. Attention to pain localization and unpleasantness discriminates the functions of the medial and lateral pain systems. Eur. J. Neurosci. 21, 3133–3142.
- Kunz, M., Chen, J.-I., Lautenbacher, S., Vachon-Presseau, E., Rainville, P., 2011. Cerebral regulation of facial expressions of pain. J. Neurosci. 31 (24), 8730–8738.
- Lane, R., Fink, G., Chua, P., Dolan, R., 1997. Neural activation during selective attention to subjective emotional responses. NeuroReport 8, 3969–3972.
- Levin, B., Duchowny, M., 1991. Childhood obsessive-compulsive disorder and cingulate epilepsy. Biol. Psychiatry 30, 1049–1055.Liddle, P.F., Kiehl, K.A., Smith, A.M., 2001. Event-related fMRI study of response
- Liddle, P.F., Kiehl, K.A., Smith, A.M., 2001. Event-related fMRI study of response inhibition. Hum. Brain Mapp. 12, 100–109.MacKay, W.A., Crammond, D.J., 1987. Neuronal correlates in posterior parietal lobe
- MacKay, W.A., Crammond, D.J., 1987. Neuronal correlates in posterior parietal lobe of the expectation of events. Behav. Brain Res. 24, 167–179.
- Makris, N., Biederman, J., Valera, E.M., Bush, G., Kaiser, J., Kennedy, D.N., et al., 2007. Cortical thinning of the attention and executive function networks in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Cereb. Cortex 17, 1364–1375. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhl047.
- Marsh, A.A., Blair, K.S., Vythilingam, M., Busis, S., Blair, R.J.R., 2007. Response options and expectations of reward in decision-making: the differential roles of dorsal and rostral anterior cingulate cortex. NeuroImage 35, 979–988.
- Mataix-Cols, D., Wooderson, S., Lawrence, N., Brammer, M.J., Speckens, A., Phillips, M.L., 2004. Distinct neural correlates of washing, checking, and hoarding symptom dimensions in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 61 564–576
- Matelli, M., Luppino, G., Rizzolatti, G., 1991. Architecture of superior and mesial Area 6 and the adjacent cingulate cortex in the macaque monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 311, 445–462.
- Mayberg, H.S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S.K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R.K., Jerabek, P.A., et al., 1999. Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: converging PET findings in depression and normal sadness. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 675–682.
- Mayr, U., 2004. Conflict, consciousness, and control. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8, 145–148.McRae, K., Reiman, E.M., Fort, C.L., Chen, K., Lane, R.D., 2008. Association between trait emotional awareness and dorsal anterior cingulate activity during emotion is arousal-dependent. NeuroImage 41, 648–655.
- Mesulam, M.M., Mufson, E.J., 1982. Insula of the old world monkey. III. Efferent cortical output and comments on function. J. Comp. Neurol. 212, 38–52.
- Miller, M.W., Powrozek, T., Vogt, B.A., 2009. Dopamine in the cingulate gyrus: Organization, reward, development and neurotoxic vulnerability. In: Vogt, B.A.

(Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 163–187 (Chapter 7).

- Moayedi, M., Weissman-Fogel, I., Salomons, T.V., Crawley, A.P., Goldberg, M.B., Freeman, B.V., Tenenbaum, H.C., Davis, K.D., 2012. Abnormal gray matter aging in chronic pain patients. Brain Res. 1456, 82–93.
- Mohr, C., Binkofski, F., Erdmann, C., Büchel, C., Helmchen, C., 2005. The anterior cingulate cortex contains distinct areas dissociating external from selfadministered painful stimulation: a parametric fMRI study. Pain 114, 347–357.
- Morecraft, R.J., Schroeder, C.M., Keifer, J., 1996. Organization of face representation in cingulate cortex of the rhesus monkey. NeuroReport 7, 1343–1348.
- Morecraft, R.J., Cipolloni Stilwell-Morecraft, K.S., Gedney, M.T., Pandya, D.N., 2004. Cytoarchitecture and cortical connections of the posterior cingulate and adjacent somatosensory fields in the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 469, 37– 69.
- Morecraft, R.J., Tanji, J., 2009. Cingulofrontal interactions and the cingulate motor areas. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 113–144 Chapter 5.
- Moulton, E.A., Keaser, M.L., Gullappalli, R.P., Greenspan, J.D., 2005. Regional intensive and temporal patterns of functional MRI activation distinguishing noxious and innocuous contact heat. J. Neurophysiol. 93, 2183–2193.
- Mufson, E.J., Mesulam, M.M., 1982. Insula of the old world monkey. II. Afferent cortical input and comments on the claustrum. J. Comp. Neurol. 212, 23–37.
- Murtha, S., Chertkow, H., Beauregard, M., Dixon, R., Evans, A., 1996. Anticipation causes increased blood flow to the anterior cingulate cortex. Hum. Brain Mapp. 4, 103–112.
- Niddam, D.M., Chen, L.-F., Wu, Y.-T., Hsieh, J.-C., 2005. Spatiotemporal brain dynamics in response to muscle stimulation. NeuroImage 25, 942–951.
- Niki, H., Watanabe, M., 1976. Cingulate unit activity and delayed response. Brain Res. 110, 381–386.
- Niki, H., Watanabe, M., 1979. Prefrontal and cingulate unit activity during timing behavior in the monkey. Brain Res. 171, 213–224.
- Nishijo, H., Yamamoto, Y., Ono, T., Uwano, T., Yamashita, J., Yamashima, T., 1997. Single neuron responses in the monkey anterior cingulate cortex during visual discrimination. Neurosci. Lett. 227, 79–82.
- Norman, D.A., Shallice, T., 1986. Attention to action: willed and automatic control of behavior. In: Davidson, R.J. (Ed.), Consciousness and Self-Regulation. Plenum Press, New York.
- Osman, A., Barrios, F.X., Gutierrez, P.M., Kopper, B.A., Merrifield, T., Grittmann, L., 2000. The pain catastrophizing scale: further psychometric evaluation with adult samples. J. Behav. Med. 23, 351–365.
- Palomero-Gallagher, N., Zilles, K., 2009. Transmitter receptor systems in cingulate regions and areas. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 31–63 Chapter 2.
- Papoiu, A.D.P., Nattkemper, L.A., Sanders, K.M., Kraft, R.A., Chan, Y.-H., et al., 2013. Brain's reward circuits mediate itch relief. A functional MRI study of active scratching, PLoS One 8 (12), e82389. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0082389.
- Pardo, J.V., Pardo, P.J., Janer, K.W., Raichle, M.E., 1990. The anterior cingulate cortex mediates processing selection in the Stroop attentional conflict paradigm. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87, 256–259.
- Paus, T., Petrides, M., Evans, A.C., Meyer, E., 1993. Role of the human anterior cingulate cortex in the control of oculomotor, manual, and speech responses: a positron emission tomography study. J. Neurophysiol. 70, 453–469.
- Periánez, J.A., Maestu, F., Barcelo, F., Fernández, A., Amo, C., Ortiz Alonso, T., 2004. Spatiotemporal brain dynamics during preparatory set shifting: MEG evidence. Neuroimage 21, 687–695.
- Perini, I., Bergstrand, S., Morrison, I., 2013. Where pain meets action in the human brain. J. Neurosci. 33 (40), 15930–15939.
- Petit, L., Courtney, S.M., Ungerleider, L.G., Haxby, J.V., 1998. Sustained activity in the medial wall during working memory delays. J. Neurosci. 18, 9429–9437.
 Petrovic, P., Dietrich, T., Fransson, P., Andersson, J., Carlsson, K., Ingvar, M., 2005.
- Petrovic, P., Dietrich, T., Fransson, P., Andersson, J., Carlsson, K., Ingvar, M., 2005. Placebo in emotional processing-induced expectations of anxiety relief activate a generalized modulatory network. Neuron 46, 957–969.
- Phelps, E.A., LeDoux, J.E., 2005. Contributions of the amygdala to emotion processing: from animal models to human behavior. Neuron 48, 175–187.
- Ploghaus, A., Becerra, L., Borras, C., Borsook, D., 2003. Neural circuitry underlying pain modulation: expectation, hypnosis, placebo. Trends Cogn. Sci. 7, 197–200.
- Posner, M.I., Petersen, S.E., Fox, P.T., Raichle, M.E., 1988. Localization of cognitive operations in the human brain. Science 240, 1627–1631.
- Procyk, E., Joseph, J.P., 2001. Characterization of serial order encoding in the monkey anterior cingulate sulcus. Eur. J. Neurosci. 14, 1041–1046.
- Procyk, E., Wilson, C.R.E., Stoll, F.M., Faraut, M.C.M., Petrides, M., Amiez, C., 2016. Midcingulate motor map and feedback detection: converging data from humans and monkeys. Cereb. Cortex 26, 467–476.
- Raichle, M.E., Fiez, J.A., Videen, T.O., MacLeod, A.M., Pardo, J.V., Fox, P.T., et al., 1994. Practice-related changes in human brain functional anatomy during nonmotor learning. Cereb. Cortex 4, 8–26.
- Salomons, T.V., Johnstone, T., Backonja, M.-M., Davidson, R.J., 2004. Perceived controllability modulates the neural response to pain. J. Neurosci. 24 (32), 7199– 7203.
- Saxena, S., O'Neill, J., Rauch, S.L., 2009. The role of cingulate cortex dysfunction in obsessive-compulsive disorder. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 587–617 (Chapter 27).
- Schnell, K., Heekeren, K., Schnitker, R., Daumann, J., Weber, J., Heßelmann, V., et al., 2007. An fMRI approach to particularize the frontoparietal network for

visuomotor action monitoring: detection of incongruence between test subjects' actions and resulting perceptions. Neuroimage 34, 332–341.

- Shaw, P., Lerch, J., Greenstein, D., Sharp, W., Clasen, L., Evans, A., Giedd, J., Castellanos, F.X., Rapoport, J., 2006. Longitudinal mapping of cortical thickness and clinical outcome in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 540–549.
- Shidara, M., Richmond, B.J., 2002. Anterior cingulate: single neuronal signals related to degree of reward expectancy. Science 296, 1709–1711.
- Shima, K., Aya, K., Mushiake, H., Inase, M., Aizawa, H., Tanji, J., 1991. Two movementrelated foci in the primate cingulate cortex observed in signal-triggered and self-paced forelimb movements. J. Neurophysiol. 65, 188–202.
- Shima, K., Tanji, J., 1998. Role for cingulate motor area cells in voluntary movement selection based on reward. Science 282, 1335–1338.
- Shin, L.M., Lasko, N.B., Macklin, M.L., Karpf, R.D., Milad, M.R., Orr, S.P., et al., 2009. Resting metabolic activity in the cingulate cortex and vulnerability to posttraumatic stress disorder. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 66 (10), 1099–1107.
- Singer, T., Seymour, B., Dolan, R.J., Frith, C.D., O'Doherty, J., Kaube, H., 2004. Empathy for pain involves the affective but not sensory components of pain. Science 303, 1157–1162.
- Smith, G.E., 1907. A new topographical survey of the human cerebral cortex, being an account of the distribution of the anatomically distinct cortical areas and their relationship to the cerebral sulci. J. Anat. 41, 237–254.
- Sprenger, T., Valet, M., Woltmann, R., Zimmer, C., Freynhagen, R., Kochs, E.F., Tölle, T. R., Wagner, K.J., 2006. Imaging pain modulation by subanesthetic S-(+)-ketamine. Anesth. Analg. 103, 729–737.
- Stricanne, B., Andersen, R.A., Mazzoni, P., 1996. Eye-centered, head-centered, and intermediate coding of remembered sound locations in area LIP. J. Neurophysiol. 76 (3), 2071–2076.
- Talairach, J., Bancaud, J., Geier, S., Bordas-Ferrer, M., Bonis, A., Szikla, G., 1973. The cingulate gyrus and human behavior. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 34, 45–52.
- Taylor, K.S., Seminowicz, D.A., Davis, K.D., 2009. Two systems of resting state connectivity between the insula and cingulate cortex. Hum. Brain Mapp. 30, 2731–2745.
- Turk, D.C., Rudy, T.E., 1992. Cognitive factors and persistent pain: a glimpse into Pandora's Box. Cogn. Ther. Res. 16, 99–122.
- Ullsperger, M., von Cramon, D.Y., 2001. Subprocesses of performance monitoring: a dissociation of error processing and response competition revealed by eventrelated fMRI and ERPs. Neuroimage 14, 1387–1401.
- Vaishnavi, S.N., Vlassenko, A.G., Rundle, M.M., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., Raichle, M. E., 2010. Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (41), 17757–17762.
- Vogt, B.A., 2005. Pain and emotion interactions in subregions of the cingulate gyrus. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6 (7), 533–544 PubMed PMID: 15995724; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2659949.
- Vogt, B.A., 2009a. Regions and subregions of the cingulate cortex. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 3–30 (Chapter 1).

- Vogt, B.A., 2009b. Architecture, cytology and comparative organization of primate cingulate cortex. In: Vogt, B.A. (Ed.), Cingulate Neurobiology and Disease. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 65–93 (Chapter 3).
- Vogt, B.A., 2015. Cytoarchitecture and neurocytology of rabbit cingulate cortex. Brain Struct. Funct. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00429-015-1120-x.
- Vogt, B.A., Barbas, H., 1988. Structure and connections of the cingulate vocalization region in rhesus monkey. In: Newman, J.D. (Ed.), The Physiological Control of Mammalian Vocalization. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 203–225.
- Vogt, B.A., Berger, G.R., Derbyshire, S.W., 2003. Structural and functional dichotomy of human midcingulate cortex. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18 (11), 3134–3144 PubMed PMID: 14656310; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2548277.
- Vogt, B.A., Nimchinsky, E.A., Vogt, L.J., Hof, P.R., 1995. Human cingulate cortex: surface features, flat maps, and cytoarchitecture. J. Comp. Neurol. 3, 490–506 PubMed PMID: 7499543.
- Vogt, B.A., Pandya, D.N., 1987. Cingulate cortex of rhesus monkey. II. Cortical afferents. J. Comp. Neurol. 262, 271–289.
- Vogt, B.A., Palomero-Gallagher, N., 2012. Cingulate cortex. In: Paxinos, G., Mai, J.K. (Eds.), The Human Nervous System. Academic Press, New York, pp. 943–987.
- Vogt, B.A., Paxinos, G., 2014. Cytoarchitecture of mouse and rat cingulate cortex with human homologies. Brain Struct. Funct. 219 (1), 185–192. doi:http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s00429-012-0493-3 PubMedPMID:23229151.
- Vogt, C., Vogt, O., 1919. Allgemeine Ergebnisse unserer Hirnforschung. J. Psychol. Neurol. 25, 279–462.
- Wang, Z., Maia, T.V., Marsh, R., Colibazzi, T., Gerber, A., Peterson, B.S., 2011. The neural circuits that generate tics in Tourette's syndrome. Am. J. Psychiatry 168, 1326–1337.
- Whalen, P.J., Bush, G., McNally, R.J., Wilhelm, S., McInerney, S.C., Jenike, M.A., et al., 1998. The emotional counting Stroop paradigm: a functional magnetic resonance imaging probe of the anterior cingulate affective division. Biol. Psychiatry 44, 1219–1228.
- Whitman, J.C., Metzak, P.D., Lavigne, K.M., Woodward, T.S., 2013. Functional connectivity in a frontoparietal network involving the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex underlies decisions to accept a hyothesis. Neuropsychologia 51, 1132– 1141.
- Williams, S.M., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1998. Widespread origin of the primate mesofrontal dopamine system. Cereb. Cortex 8, 321–345.
- Williams, Z.M., Bush, G., Rauch, S.L., Cosgrove, G.R., Eskandar, E.N., 2004. Human anterior cingulate neurons and the integration of monetary reward with motor responses. Nat. Neurosci. 7, 1370–1375.
- Woodcock, E.A., White, R., Diwadkar, V.A., 2015. The dorsal prefrontal and dorsal anterior cingulate cortices exert complementary network signatures during encoding and retrieval in associative memory. Behav. Brain Res. 290, 152–160.
- Yarkoni, T., Poldrack, R.A., Nichols, T.E., Van Essen, D.C., Wager, T.D., 2011. Large-scale automated synthesis of human functional neuroimaging data. Nat. Methods 8 (8), 665–670.
- Yücel, M., Harrison, B.J., Wood, S.J., Fornito, A., Clarke, K., Wellard, R.M., et al., 2007. State, trait and biochemical influences on human anterior cingulate function. Neuroimage 24, 1766–1773.